## Reference Correlations for the Thermal Conductivity of Liquid Bismuth, Cobalt, Germanium, and Silicon

Cite as: J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data **46**, 033101 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4991518 Submitted: 21 June 2017 . Accepted: 10 July 2017 . Published Online: 08 August 2017

M. J. Assael, K. D. Antoniadis, W. A. Wakeham, M. L. Huber, and H. Fukuyama



#### ARTICLES YOU MAY BE INTERESTED IN

Reference Correlations for the Viscosity and Thermal Conductivity of n-Undecane Journal of Physical and Chemical Reference Data **46**, 033103 (2017); https:// doi.org/10.1063/1.4996885

Reference Data for the Density and Viscosity of Liquid Copper and Liquid Tin Journal of Physical and Chemical Reference Data **39**, 033105 (2010); https:// doi.org/10.1063/1.3467496

Reference Data for the Density and Viscosity of Liquid Cadmium, Cobalt, Gallium, Indium, Mercury, Silicon, Thallium, and Zinc

Journal of Physical and Chemical Reference Data **41**, 033101 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4729873

# Where in the world is AIP Publishing?

Find out where we are exhibiting next





J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data 46, 033101 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4991518

@ 2017 @ 2017 by the U.S. Secretary of Commerce on behalf of the United States. All rights reserved..



### Reference Correlations for the Thermal Conductivity of Liquid Bismuth, Cobalt, Germanium, and Silicon

#### M. J. Assael<sup>a)</sup>

Chemical Engineering Department, Aristotle University, Thessaloniki 54636, Greece

#### K. D. Antoniadis

Chemical Engineering Department, Aristotle University, Thessaloniki 54636, Greece and Berkeley & Imperial L.P., Tantalidou 6, Thessaloniki 54629, Greece

#### W. A. Wakeham

Department of Chemical Engineering, Imperial College London, London SW7 2BY, United Kingdom

#### M. L. Huber

Applied Chemicals and Materials Division, National Institute of Standards and Technology, Boulder, Colorado 80305-3337, USA

#### H. Fukuyama

Institute of Multidisciplinary Research for Advanced Materials, Tohoku University, 2-1-1, Katahira, Aobaku, Sendai, Miyagi 980-8577, Japan

(Received 21 June 2017; accepted 10 July 2017; published online 8 August 2017)

The available experimental data for the thermal conductivity of liquid bismuth, cobalt, germanium, and silicon have been critically examined with the intention of establishing thermal conductivity reference correlations. All experimental data have been categorized into primary and secondary data according to the quality of measurement specified by a series of criteria. The proposed standard reference correlations for the thermal conductivity of liquid bismuth, cobalt, germanium, and silicon are, respectively, characterized by uncertainties of 10%, 15%, 16%, and 9.5% at the 95% confidence level. © *2017 by the U.S. Secretary of Commerce on behalf of the United States. All rights reserved.* [http://dx.doi.org/10.1063/1.4991518]

Key words: bismuth; copper; germanium; reference correlation; silicon; thermal conductivity.

#### CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Experimental Techniques	2
3.	Data Compilation	3
	3.1. Data for bismuth	3
	3.2. Data for cobalt	5
	3.3. Data for germanium	5
	3.4. Data for silicon	6
4.	Thermal Conductivity Reference Correlation	7
5.	Conclusions	8
	Acknowledgments	8
6.	References	8

#### List of Tables

1.	Data sets considered for the thermal conductivity	
	of liquid bismuth at 0.1 MPa	3
2.	Data sets considered for the thermal conductivity	
	of liquid cobalt at 0.1 MPa	4
3.	Data sets considered for the thermal conductivity	
	of liquid germanium at 0.1 MPa	4
4.	Data sets considered for the thermal conductivity	
	of liquid silicon 0.1 MPa	4
5.	Temperature range, coefficients, and deviations at	
	the 95% confidence level of Eq. (2)	6
6.	Recommended values for the thermal conductivity	
	of liquid bismuth, cobalt, germanium, and silicon	7

#### List of Figures

1. Measurements of the thermal conductivity of liquid bismuth as a function of the temperature. . . . . 5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a)</sup>Author to whom correspondence should be addressed; electronic mail: assael@auth.gr.

<sup>@</sup> 2017 by the U.S. Secretary of Commerce on behalf of the United States. All rights reserved.

5

5

6

- 2. Measurements of the thermal conductivity of liquid cobalt as a function of the temperature. . . . . . .
- 3. Measurements of the thermal conductivity of liquid germanium as a function of the temperature. . . .
- 4. Measurements of the thermal conductivity of liquid silicon as a function of the temperature.
- 5. Percentage deviations of experimental thermalconductivity values of bismuth from those calculated by Eq. (2), as a function of the temperature. 6

#### 1. Introduction

In the last two decades, there is an increasing use of mathematical models to simulate a variety of processes involving liquid metals such as "cast to shape," primary and secondary metal production, powder production by spray forming, and welding. Depending on what aspect of the process is modeled, a need for viscosity or thermal conductivity data of relevant alloys exists. Historically, there are wide discrepancies in the viscosity and thermal conductivity data reported for the metallic elements and alloys.<sup>1</sup> For example, there is a spread of about 400% in the reported values for the viscosity of molten aluminum and about 100% for the viscosity of molten iron.<sup>1,2</sup> Such discrepancies prompted the need to review the values in the literature. Thus, following the need for reference values of the density, viscosity, and thermal conductivity of liquid metals, a project was initiated by the International Association for Transport Properties, IATP (former Subcommittee on Transport Properties of the International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry, IUPAC) in 2006 to evaluate critically the density, the viscosity, and the thermal conductivity of selected liquid metals. Thus, the following:

- (1) In 2006, reference values for the density and the viscosity of liquid aluminum and iron were published,<sup>2</sup> as a result of a project supported by IUPAC.
- (2) Following this, in 2010, values for the density and viscosity for liquid copper and tin were proposed.<sup>3</sup> That work had also been supported by IUPAC.
- (3) In 2012, the work was continued, and reference correlations of the density and viscosity of liquid bismuth, nickel, lead, silver, and antimony were proposed,<sup>4</sup> to be concluded with liquid cadmium, cobalt, gallium, indium, mercury, silicon, thallium, and zinc,<sup>5</sup> and the eutectic alloys Al+Si, Pb+Bi, and Pb+Sn.<sup>6</sup>

For the remaining liquid metals in the periodic table, very limited information is available in the literature.

In 2017, the investigation was extended to reference correlations for the thermal conductivity of liquid metals. Thus, reference correlations were proposed for liquid copper, gallium, indium, iron, lead, nickel, and tin.<sup>7</sup> The present work concludes this investigation on thermal conductivity for the liquid metals: bismuth, cobalt, germanium, and silicon. As previously, these are based on critically assessed measurements of the thermal conductivity. Values of the thermal conductivity calculated via the Wiedermann–Franz law, from the measurement of the electrical conductivity, were not

6.	Percentage deviations of experimental thermal-	
	conductivity values of cobalt from those calculated	
	by Eq. (2), as a function of the temperature	7
7.	Percentage deviations of experimental thermal-con-	
	ductivity values of germanium from those calcu-	
	lated by Eq. (2), as a function of the temperature.	7
8.	Percentage deviations of experimental thermal-	
	conductivity values of silicon from those calcu-	
	lated by Eq. (2), as a function of the temperature.	7

considered here. Although the Wiedermann–Franz law<sup>8</sup> was first published in 1853, its basis is a simple theory of one mechanism of thermal conduction in a specific group of solid metals. Thus, its application to the liquid phase of a wider group of metals is of uncertain pedigree.<sup>9–11</sup>

In 1970, Touloukian *et al.*<sup>12</sup> published a review of thermalconductivity data and reference values for the thermal conductivity of some liquid metals and bismuth. Following this, in 1996, Mills *et al.*<sup>13</sup> also proposed reference equations for some liquid metals, and among them a new reference correlation for the thermal conductivity of liquid bismuth. For liquid cobalt, germanium, and silicon, only a single value at the melting point was given. Thus, reference correlations for the other three melts are long overdue especially because, since 1996, as will be discussed later, new more accurate measurements have emerged. These data, together with a critical assessment of measurement methodology and the objective assignment of statistical weights to be attached to results, allow us to make improved proposals for reference correlations.

#### 2. Experimental Techniques

Molten metals are highly reactive at high temperature. Hence, it is difficult to find an appropriate container for the materials during the measurement of thermophysical properties. Moreover, convection induced by a non-uniform temperature field in molten metals at high temperatures is exceedingly difficult to avoid completely, so that the measurement of thermal conductivity is generally contaminated by convective flows of heat.

A large number of techniques, both steady-state and transient, have been employed to measure the thermal conductivity of molten bismuth, cobalt, germanium, and silicon. Transient methods employed were the transient hot wire, the laser flash, the electromagnetic levitation, the temperature wave, and the hot-disk technique, while steady-state methods employed include the guarded heat flow and the concentric-cylinder technique. These methods and their major characteristics were presented in our previous paper,<sup>7</sup> and therefore, here only the main issues confronted by each method will be mentioned. The main problems faced by the transient and steady-state techniques are

 the electrical insulation of the sensor's wires from the conducting metal and the numerical description of this effect on the calculations (mainly in the transient hot-wire technique);

- (2) avoiding the presence of buoyancy-driven convective flow within the sample (mainly in the guarded heat flow, laser flash, and electromagnetic-levitation techniques);
- (3) suppressing Marangoni convective effects (mainly in the electromagnetic-levitation technique);
- (4) suppressing buoyancy and thermocapillary forces contributing to convection (mainly in the temperature-wave technique);
- (5) the lack of high-quality standard reference values for molten metals which are required in techniques in need of calibration (mainly in the transient hot-disk technique).

Moreover, among the set of techniques, the laser flash and the temperature-wave technique directly measure the thermal diffusivity,  $\alpha$  (m<sup>2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>), of the sample and not the thermal conductivity,  $\lambda$  (W m<sup>-1</sup> K<sup>-1</sup>). The two are related through the equation

$$\alpha = \frac{\lambda}{\rho \ C_p},\tag{1}$$

where  $\rho$  (kg m<sup>-3</sup>) is the density of the melt, and  $C_P$  (J kg<sup>-1</sup> K<sup>-1</sup>) is its isobaric heat capacity. For the liquid metals considered here, the density and the heat capacity are readily available in the literature (e.g., Ref. 14), so that the conversion we have performed is straightforward, although it introduces a small additional uncertainty in the thermal conductivity values.

#### 3. Data Compilation

The analysis that is described here is applied to the best available experimental data for the thermal conductivity of the molten metals. Thus, a prerequisite to the analysis is a critical assessment of the experimental data. For this purpose, two categories of experimental data are defined: primary data, employed in the development of the correlation, and secondary data, used simply for comparison purposes. According to the recommendation adopted by the Subcommittee on Transport Properties (now known as The International Association for Transport Properties) of the International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry, the primary data are identified by a wellestablished set of criteria.<sup>7</sup> These criteria have been successfully employed to establish standard reference values for the viscosity and thermal conductivity of fluids over wide ranges of conditions, with uncertainties in the range of 1%. However, in many cases, such a narrow definition unacceptably limits the thermodynamic states for which data can be represented. Consequently, within the primary data set, it is also necessary to include results that extend over a wide range of conditions, albeit with a poorer accuracy, provided they are consistent with other more accurate data or with theory. In all cases, the accuracy claimed for the final recommended data must reflect the estimated uncertainty in the primary information.

Tables 1–4 present the data sets found for the measurement of the density of liquid bismuth, cobalt, germanium, and silicon, respectively. In these tables, the purity of the sample, the technique employed, and the uncertainty quoted are also presented. Furthermore, the form in which the data are presented and the temperature range covered are also noted. As already discussed in Sec. 2, the data sets have been classified into primary and secondary sets. More specifically, following the brief presentation of the various techniques employed for the measurement of the thermal conductivity of the liquid metals, in Subsections 3.1–3.4, a discussion will be presented for each liquid metal.

#### 3.1. Data for bismuth

Twelve investigators reported thermal conductivity measurements for liquid bismuth (see Table 1). We note that three of

TABLE 1. Data sets considered for the thermal conductivity of liquid bismuth at 0.1 MPa

	Published		Technique	Uncertainty		Temperature	
First author	year	Purity <sup>a</sup> (mass %)	employed <sup>b</sup>	quoted (%)	No. of data	range (K)	Form of data <sup>c</sup>
Previous reference	e correlation/va	alues					
Mills <sup>13</sup>	1996	_		_	_	545-1100	Е
Touloukian <sup>12</sup>	1970	99.997		10	6	544-1000	Р
Primary data							
Kondo <sup>15</sup>	2017	99.99	Laser flash (TD)	_	3	571-673	D
Savchenko <sup>16</sup>	2013	99.99	Laser flash (TD)	4.5	10	545-1000	D
Magomedov <sup>17</sup>	1972	_	Guarded heat flow	6	14	561-958	D
Krestovnikov <sup>18</sup>	1968	HP	Guarded heat flow	8	9	698-1110	D
Dutchak <sup>19</sup>	1967	_	Guarded heat flow	_	7	573-870	D
Pashaev <sup>20</sup>	1961	_	Guarded heat flow	5	4	554-625	D
Nikolsky <sup>21</sup>	1959	-	Guarded heat flow	_	26	625–945	D
Secondary data							
Nagai <sup>22</sup>	2006	99.999	Hot disk (Normal gravity)	-	6	585-1104	D
Nagai <sup>22</sup>	2006	99.999	Hot disk (Microgravity)	-	6	585-1105	D
Veinik <sup>23</sup>	1989	_	na	20	1	567	Р
Filippov <sup>24</sup>	1973	-	Temperature wave (TD)	-	7	563-1045	D
Powell <sup>25</sup>	1958	_	Guarded heat flow	_	6	573-823	Р
Konno <sup>26</sup>	1920	-	Guarded heat flow	-	5	571-857	Р

<sup>a</sup>HP = High Purity grade.

 ${}^{b}TD =$  thermal diffusivity measurement; na = not available.

 $^{c}D =$  diagram, E = equation, P = tabulated experimental data.

TABLE 2. Data sets considered for the thermal conductivity	y of liquid cobalt at 0.1 MPa
--	-------------------------------

First author	Published year	Purity (mass %)	Technique employed <sup>a</sup>	Uncertainty quoted (%)	No. of data	Temperature range (K)	Form of data <sup>b</sup>
Previous reference correlation/values		• • •	1 2	1 /			
Mills <sup>13</sup>	1996			_	1	1769	Р
Primary data							
Fukuyama <sup>27</sup>	2015	_	Electromagnetic levitation	_	17	1782-1903	D
Nishi <sup>28</sup>	2003	99.999	Laser flash (TD)	2.2	13	1768-1838	D
Secondary data							
Zinovyev <sup>29</sup>	1986	99.95	Temperature wave (TD)	7	5	1768-1844	D
Ostrovskii <sup>30</sup>	1980	-	na	-	1	1769	Р

<sup>a</sup>TD = thermal diffusivity measurement; na = not available.

 ${}^{b}D =$  diagram, P = tabulated experimental data.

them<sup>15,16,24</sup> employed instruments that measure thermal diffusivity, but they also quote thermal conductivity. The 12 investigators are also depicted in Fig. 1, together with the six reference values proposed in 1970 by Touloukian *et al.*<sup>12</sup> and the reference equation proposed by Mills *et al.*<sup>13</sup> in 1996. The measurements of Savchenko *et al.*<sup>16</sup> performed at 2013 in

TABLE 3. Data sets considered for the thermal conductivity of liquid germanium at 0.1 MPa

First	Published			Uncertainty		Temperature	
author	year	Purity <sup>a</sup> (mass %)	Technique employed <sup>b</sup>	quoted (%)	No. of data	range (K)	Form of data <sup>c</sup>
Previous refer	ence correlation	n/values					
Mills <sup>13</sup>	1996	-		-	1	1212	Р
Primary data							
Nishi <sup>31</sup>	2003	_	Laser flash (TD)	2.2	19	1218-1399	D
Yamasue <sup>32</sup>	2002	99.99	Transient hot wire	5.9	5	1273-1473	Р
Takasuka <sup>33</sup>	1995	-	Laser flash (TD)	_	69	1201-1329	D
Taylor <sup>34</sup>	1985	_	Laser flash (TD)	_	12	1218-1296	D
Crouch <sup>35</sup>	1982	-	Laser flash (TD)	-	3	1243-1283	Р
Secondary dat	ta						
Filippov <sup>24</sup>	1973	-	Temperature wave (TD)		2	1212-1601	D
Glazov <sup>36</sup>	1971	HP	Guarded heat flow - concentric cylinders	10	7	1221–1409	D
Glazov <sup>36</sup>	1971	HP	Guarded heat-flow	10	7	1326-1468	D

<sup>a</sup>HP = High Purity grade.

 $^{b}TD =$  thermal diffusivity measurement.

 $^{c}D =$  diagram, P = tabulated experimental data.

-		~			0								~ .	1.00
TABLE •	4. I	Data s	ets	considered	for	the	thermal	conductivity	/ of	lia	uid	silicon	0.1	MPa

	Published			Uncertainty		Temperature	
First author	year	Purity <sup>a</sup> (mass %)	Technique employed <sup>b</sup>	quoted (%)	No. of data	range (K)	Form of data <sup>c</sup>
Previous referen	nce correlation	/values					
Mills <sup>13</sup>	1996	-		-	1	1687	Р
Primary data							
Kobatake <sup>37</sup>	2010	_	Electromagnetic levitation	7	10	1702-1945	Р
Magomedov <sup>38</sup>	2008	_	Guarded heat flow - Concentric cylinders	6	5	1708-1803	D
Nishi <sup>31</sup>	2003	_	Laser flash (TD)	7.7	6	1684-1705	D
Yamasue <sup>32</sup>	2002	HP	Transient hot wire	5	3	1700-1724	Р
Takasuka <sup>33</sup>	1995	_	Laser flash (TD)	-	13	1694-1785	D
Yamamoto <sup>39</sup>	1991	-	Laser flash (TD)	2	7	1692-1724	D
Secondary data							
Inatomi <sup>40</sup>	2007	99.9999	Electromagnetic levitation	20	22	1700-1958	D
Nagai <sup>41</sup>	2000	99.9999	Hot disk (normal gravity)	3.2	5	1688-1723	D
Nagai <sup>41</sup>	2000	99.9999	Hot disk (microgravity)	3.2	3	1688–1713	D

 $^{a}$ HP = High Purity grade.

 $^{b}TD =$  thermal diffusivity measurement.

<sup>c</sup>D = diagram, P = tabulated experimental data.



FIG. 1. Measurements of the thermal conductivity of liquid bismuth as a function of the temperature. Kondo *et al.*<sup>15</sup> ( $\blacklozenge$ ), Savchenko *et al.*<sup>16</sup> ( $\blacklozenge$ ), Magomedov and Pashaev<sup>17</sup> ( $\Delta$ ), Krestovnikov *et al.*<sup>18</sup> ( $\bigoplus$ ), Dutchak and Panasyuk<sup>19</sup> ( $\blacksquare$ ), Pashaev<sup>20</sup> ( $\diamondsuit$ ), Nikolsky *et al.*<sup>21</sup> (+), Nagai *et al.*<sup>22</sup>: microgravity ( $\bigcirc$ ), normal gravity ( $\bigcirc$ ), Veinik *et al.*<sup>23</sup> ( $\times$ ), Filippov<sup>24</sup> (--), Powell and Tye<sup>25</sup> ( $\blacktriangle$ ), and Konno<sup>26</sup> ( $\diamondsuit$ ). Previous reference correlation of Mills *et al.*<sup>13</sup> (—) and reference values of Touloukian *et al.*<sup>12</sup> (**\***) are also shown. (…)—melting point.

a laser-flash instrument with a 4.5% uncertainty were considered as primary data, as they have already been included in the previous derivation of thermal conductivity reference correlations for indium, lead, and tin.<sup>7</sup> For the same reason, the guarded heat-flow measurements of Magomedov and Pashaev,<sup>17</sup> Dutchak and Panasyuk,<sup>19</sup> and Nikolsky *et al.*<sup>21</sup> were also included in the primary data set. The measurements of Krestovnikov *et al.*<sup>18</sup> performed in a concentric-cylinder instrument with 8% uncertainty were also included in the primary data set. The guarded heat-flow measurements of Pashaev<sup>20</sup> with 5% uncertainty were also included in the primary data set, even though in the previous derivation of thermal conductivity reference correlations for gallium and tin,<sup>7</sup> they deviated considerably. Finally, the very recent laser-flash measurements of Kondo *et al.*<sup>15</sup> were also part of the primary data set.

The hot-disk measurements of Nagai *et al.*<sup>22</sup> were not included in the primary data set as they deviate considerably (see Fig. 1) from all other measurements (as also in the case of silicon). The measurements of Filippov<sup>24</sup> also always seem to differ from all other measurements (see Fig. 1); so was the case also in our previous publication.<sup>7</sup> The older measurements of Powell and Tye<sup>25</sup> and Konno<sup>26</sup> seemed not to follow the trend of all other measurements. The single measurement of Veinik *et al.*,<sup>23</sup> with a 20% uncertainty near the melting temperature, was not included because very little information on the technique employed was supplied.

#### 3.2. Data for cobalt

Only four investigators reported thermal conductivity measurements for liquid cobalt, as shown in Table 2 and depicted in Fig. 2. We note that two of them<sup>28,29</sup> employed instruments that measure thermal diffusivity, but they also quote thermal conductivity. Based on the lack of a large body of experimental data, in 1996 Mills *et al.*<sup>13</sup> proposed a single reference value for



FIG. 2. Measurements of the thermal conductivity of liquid cobalt as a function of the temperature. Fukuyama *et al.*<sup>27</sup> ( $\bigcirc$ ), Nishi *et al.*<sup>28</sup> ( $\bullet$ ), Zinovyev *et al.*<sup>29</sup> (--), and Ostrovskii<sup>30</sup> ( $\diamondsuit$ ). Previous reference value of Mills *et al.*<sup>13</sup> (-) is also shown. (…)—melting point.

the thermal conductivity of liquid cobalt at its melting point, based on the value of Ostrovskii *et al.*<sup>30</sup> Since 1996, however, two more sets have been reported: Fukuyama *et al.*<sup>27</sup> in 2015 and Nishi *et al.*<sup>28</sup> in 2003, one employing the electromagnetic levitation technique and the other using a laser-flash instrument to measure the thermal diffusivity of cobalt. Employing values for the heat capacity<sup>14</sup> and the density,<sup>5</sup> the thermal conductivity can easily be obtained. Previous measurements by the group of Fukuyama of the thermal conductivity of liquid copper,<sup>42</sup> nickel,<sup>43</sup> and iron,<sup>44</sup> and by Nishi of the thermal conductivity of liquid nickel,<sup>28</sup> have already been employed in our recent reference correlations for the thermal conductivity of these metals.<sup>7</sup> Thus these two sets formed the primary data sets. The older measurements of Zinovyev *et al.*<sup>29</sup> and Ostrovskii *et al.*<sup>30</sup> were considered as secondary data.

#### 3.3. Data for germanium

As in the case of cobalt, Mills *et al.*<sup>13</sup> proposed only a single reference value for the thermal conductivity of liquid



FIG. 3. Measurements of the thermal conductivity of liquid germanium as a function of the temperature. Nishi *et al.*<sup>31</sup> ( $\bigcirc$ ), Yamasue *et al.*<sup>32</sup> (●), Takasuka *et al.*<sup>33</sup> (+), Taylor *et al.*<sup>34</sup> ( $\Delta$ ), Crouch *et al.*<sup>35</sup> ( $\blacktriangle$ ), Filippov<sup>24</sup> (--), and Glazov *et al.*<sup>36</sup>: concentric cylinders ( $\square$ ), guarded heat flow ( $\blacksquare$ ). Previous reference value of Mills *et al.*<sup>13</sup> (–) is also shown. (···)—melting point.



FIG. 4. Measurements of the thermal conductivity of liquid silicon as a function of the temperature. Kobatake *et al.*<sup>37</sup> ( $\oplus$ ), Magomedov and Gadjiev<sup>38</sup> ( $\square$ ), Nishi *et al.*<sup>31</sup> ( $\blacktriangle$ ), Yamasue *et al.*<sup>32</sup> ( $\bigcirc$ ), Takasuka *et al.*<sup>33</sup> ( $\blacklozenge$ ), Yamamoto *et al.*<sup>39</sup> ( $\times$ ), Inatomi *et al.*<sup>40</sup> ( $\Delta$ ), and Nagai *et al.*<sup>11</sup> microgravity ( $\bigcirc$ ), normal gravity ( $\bigcirc$ ). Previous reference value of Mills *et al.*<sup>13</sup> (–) is also shown. (...)—melting point.

germanium at its melting point, probably based on the measurements of Taylor et al.<sup>34</sup> Since then, three more sets of measurements have been published (see Table 3 and Fig. 3). The measurements of Nishi et al.<sup>31</sup> and Takasuka et al.<sup>33</sup> have been performed in laser-flash instruments, while the measurements of Yamasue et al.<sup>32</sup> have been performed in a transient hot-wire instrument. Measurements from the first two investigators have successfully been employed in developing reference correlations of liquid metals in our previous publication,<sup>7</sup> whereas in the same paper, the measurements of Yamasue *et al.*<sup>9</sup> were considered secondary data since they were much lower than all other measurements. Here, measurements from all three groups were part of the primary data set. The measurements of Taylor et al.<sup>34</sup> and Crouch et al.,<sup>35</sup> performed in laser-flash instruments, probably in the same laboratory, were also included in the primary data set, although their values were slightly lower than the results of other measurements.

As discussed previously, the measurements of Filippov<sup>24</sup> were not considered as primary data. Furthermore the measurements of Glazov *et al.*,<sup>36</sup> performed in 1971 in a concentric-cylinder instrument as well as in a guarded heat-flow apparatus with a 10% uncertainty, were considered as secondary data, as their values were 50% lower than everybody else (see Fig. 3). This was quite worrying because they employed two different instruments. Nevertheless, no explanation was found.

We should note here that of the eight investigators in Table 3, five employed instruments that measure the thermal

diffusivity: Nishi *et al.*<sup>31</sup> and Filippov<sup>24</sup> gave also thermal conductivity values, but to convert the values of Takasuka *et al.*,<sup>33</sup> Taylor *et al.*,<sup>34</sup> and Crouch *et al.*,<sup>35</sup> we employed literature values for the heat capacity<sup>33</sup> and the density.<sup>45</sup>

#### 3.4. Data for silicon

In the same way as for cobalt and germanium, Mills *et al.*<sup>13</sup> in 1996 proposed only a single reference value for the thermal conductivity of liquid silicon at its melting point. Eight investigators, as shown in Table 4 and depicted in Fig. 4, have since reported measurements of the thermal conductivity of liquid silicon. From these, the work of Nagai *et al.*<sup>41</sup> was not included in the primary data set for reasons outlined in Sec. 3.1. The results of Inatomi *et al.*<sup>40</sup> have also been excluded because they claim a 20% uncertainty. All the rest of the measurements were considered to form the primary data set because the results of the authors have been employed successfully in developing reference correlations in our previous work.<sup>7</sup> We did not consider the 2007 measurements of Kobatake *et al.*,<sup>46</sup> since in 2010 they published new measurements<sup>37</sup> with lower uncertainty.

Finally, we note here that of the nine investigators in Table 4, three employed instruments that measure the thermal diffusivity: Nishi *et al.*<sup>31</sup> quoted also thermal conductivity values, but to convert the values of Takasuka *et al.*<sup>33</sup> and Yamamoto *et al.*<sup>39</sup> we employed literature values<sup>47</sup> for the heat capacity and the density.



Fig. 5. Percentage deviations of experimental thermal-conductivity values of bismuth from those calculated by Eq. (2), as a function of the temperature. Kondo *et al.*<sup>15</sup> ( $\blacklozenge$ ), Savchenko *et al.*<sup>16</sup> ( $\blacklozenge$ ), Magomedov and Pashaev<sup>17</sup> ( $\Delta$ ), Krestovnikov *et al.*<sup>18</sup> ( $\diamondsuit$ ), Dutchak and Panasyuk<sup>19</sup> ( $\blacksquare$ ), Pashaev<sup>20</sup> ( $\diamondsuit$ ), and Nikolsky *et al.*<sup>21</sup> (+). Previous reference correlation of Mills *et al.*<sup>13</sup> (—) and reference values of Touloukian *et al.*<sup>12</sup> (\*) are also shown. (···)—melting point.

TABLE 5. Temperature range, coefficients, and deviations at the 95% confidence level of Eq. (2)

	$T_{\text{range}}(\mathbf{K})$	$c_0 (\mathrm{W} \mathrm{m}^{-1} \mathrm{K}^{-1})$	$c_1 (\text{W m}^{-1} \text{K}^{-2})$	$T_{\rm mp}$ (K)	Deviation $(2\sigma)$ (%)
Bismuth	545-1110	13.19939	0.011 47	544.55 (Ref. 4)	10
Cobalt	1769-1903	29.493 59	0.087 81	1768.15 (Ref. 5)	15
Germanium	1212-1473	45.55252	0.024 09	1210.4 (Ref. 48)	16
Silicon	1690-1945	54.702 18	0.001 53	1687.0 (Ref. 5)	9.5

#### 4. Thermal Conductivity Reference Correlation

The primary thermal conductivity data for liquid metals, shown in Tables 1–4, were employed in a linear regression analysis to represent the thermal conductivity at 0.1 MPa as a function of the temperature. Nothing other than a linear representation can be justified given the scatter of the data. Since the quoted uncertainties of all works were of similar magnitude, the data were weighted only according to the number of points. The following equation was obtained for the thermal conductivity,  $\lambda$  (W m<sup>-1</sup> K<sup>-1</sup>), as a function of the absolute temperature, *T* (K),

$$\lambda = c_0 + c_1 \left( T - T_{\rm mp} \right). \tag{2}$$

The coefficients  $c_0$  (W m<sup>-1</sup> K<sup>-1</sup>) and  $c_1$  (W m<sup>-1</sup> K<sup>-2</sup>), as well as the melting temperature  $T_{mp}$  (K), are shown for each



FIG. 6. Percentage deviations of experimental thermal-conductivity values of cobalt from those calculated by Eq. (2), as a function of the temperature. Fukuyama *et al.*<sup>27</sup> ( $\bigcirc$ ) and Nishi *et al.*<sup>28</sup> ( $\bullet$ ). Previous reference value of Mills *et al.*<sup>13</sup> (–) is also shown. (···)—melting point.



FIG. 7. Percentage deviations of experimental thermal-conductivity values of germanium from those calculated by Eq. (2), as a function of the temperature. Nishi *et al.*<sup>31</sup> ( $\bigcirc$ ), Yamasue *et al.*<sup>32</sup> ( $\blacklozenge$ ), Takasuka *et al.*<sup>33</sup> (+), Taylor *et al.*<sup>34</sup> ( $\Delta$ ), and Crouch *et al.*<sup>35</sup> ( $\blacktriangle$ ). Previous reference value of Mills *et al.*<sup>13</sup> (–) is also shown. (···)—melting point.



Fig. 8. Percentage deviations of experimental thermal-conductivity values of silicon from those calculated by Eq. (2), as a function of the temperature. Kobatake *et al.*<sup>37</sup> ( $\oplus$ ), Magomedov and Gadjiev<sup>38</sup> ( $\square$ ), Nishi *et al.*<sup>31</sup> ( $\blacktriangle$ ), Yamasue *et al.*<sup>32</sup> ( $\bigcirc$ ), Takasuka *et al.*<sup>33</sup> ( $\oplus$ ), and Yamamoto *et al.*<sup>39</sup> ( $\times$ ). Previous reference value of Mills *et al.*<sup>13</sup> (-) is also shown. ( $\cdots$ )—melting point.

liquid metal in Table 5. In the same table, the percentage deviation  $(2\sigma)$  of each equation at the 95% confidence level is also shown.

Figures 5-8 show the primary data and their percentage deviations from the above equation for each liquid metal. The

TABLE 6. Recommended values for the thermal conductivity of liquid bismuth, cobalt, germanium, and silicon

	Bismuth	Cobalt	Germanium	Silicor
Temperature (K)		$\lambda$ (W	$m^{-1} K^{-1}$ )	
550	13.26			
600	13.84			
650	14.41			
700	14.98			
750	15.56			
800	16.13			
850	16.70			
900	17.28			
950	17.85			
1000	18.42			
1050	19.00			
1100	19.57			
1150	20.14			
1200				
1250			46.51	
1300			47.71	
1350			48.92	
1400			50.12	
1450			51.32	
1500			52.53	
1550				
1600				
1650				
1700				54.72
1750				54.80
1800		32.29		54.88
1850		36.68		54.95
1900		41.07		55.03
1950		45.46		55.10
2000				55.18
2050				55.26

dashed vertical line shows the melting point for each metal. In all cases, the deviations from Eq. (2) are broadly consistent with the quoted uncertainty of each investigator. These reference thermal conductivity correlations can be considered to represent the data well, and the overall uncertainty is commensurate with the authors' claim.

Finally, in Table 6, thermal-conductivity values calculated with the use of Eq. (2) are shown for each metal.

#### 5. Conclusions

The available experimental data for the thermal conductivity of liquid bismuth, cobalt, germanium, and silicon have been critically examined with the intention of establishing a thermal-conductivity reference correlation. All experimental data have been categorized into primary and secondary data according to the quality of measurement, the technique employed, and the presentation of the data, as specified by a series of criteria. The proposed standard reference correlations for liquid bismuth, cobalt, germanium, and silicon, respectively, are characterized by deviations of 10%, 15%, 16%, and 9.5% at the 95% confidence level.

#### Acknowledgments

The work described in this paper was carried out under the auspices of the International Association for Transport Properties (formerly known as the Subcommittee on Transport Properties of the International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry).

#### 6. References

- <sup>1</sup>T. Iida and R. I. L. Guthrie, *The Physical Properties of Liquid Metals* (Clarendon, Oxford, 1988).
- <sup>2</sup>M. J. Assael, K. Kakosimos, M. Bannish, J. Brillo, I. Egry, R. Brooks, P. N. Quested, C. Mills, A. Nagashima, Y. Sato, and W. A. Wakeham, J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data **32**, 285 (2006).
- <sup>3</sup>M. J. Assael, A. E. Kalyva, K. E. Antoniadis, R. M. Banish, I. Egry, P. N. Quested, J. Wu, E. Kaschnitz, and W. A. Wakeham, J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data **39**, 033105 (2010).
- <sup>4</sup>M. J. Assael, A. E. Kalyva, K. E. Antoniadis, R. M. Banish, I. Egry, J. Wu, E. Kaschnitz, and W. A. Wakeham, High Temp. - High Pressures **41**, 161 (2012).
- <sup>5</sup>M. J. Assael, I. J. Armyra, J. Brillo, S. Stankus, J. Wu, and W. A. Wakeham, J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data **41**, 033101 (2012).
- <sup>6</sup>M. J. Assael, E. K. Mihailidou, J. Brillo, S. Stankus, J. T. Wu, and W. A. Wakeham, J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data **41**, 033103 (2012).
- <sup>7</sup>M. J. Assael, A. Chatzimichailidis, K. D. Antoniadis, W. A. Wakeham, M. L. Huber, and H. Fukuyama, High Temp. High Pressures (in press).
- <sup>8</sup>R. Franz and G. Wiedemann, Ann. Phys. **165**, 497 (1853).
- <sup>9</sup>E. Yamasue, M. Susa, H. Fukuyama, and K. Nagata, Int. J. Thermophys. 24, 713 (2003).
- <sup>10</sup>B. Giordanengo, N. Benazzi, J. Vinchel, J. G. Gasser, and L. Roubi, J. Non-Cryst. Solids **250-252**, 377 (1999).
- <sup>11</sup>R. P. Tye and R. W. Hayden, High Temp. High Pressures 11, 597 (1979).
- <sup>12</sup>Y. S. Touloukian, R. W. Powell, C. Y. Ho, and P. G. Klemens, *Thermophysical Properties of Matter-the TPRC Data Series* Vol. 1. Thermal

Conductivity-Metallic Elements and Alloys (Plenum, New York, USA, 1970).

- <sup>13</sup>K. C. Mills, B. J. Monaghan, and B. J. Keene, Int. Mater. Rev. 41, 209 (1996).
- <sup>14</sup>T. W. Chapman, Mater. Sci. Eng. 1, 65 (1966).
- <sup>15</sup>T. Kondo, Y. Ohishi, H. Muta, K. Kurosaki, and S. Yamanaka, Netsu Bussei **31**, 11 (2017).
  <sup>16</sup>J. Saucharka, S. V. Stankus, and A. S. Agadzhanov, High Tamp. **51**, 281.
- <sup>16</sup>I. V. Savchenko, S. V. Stankus, and A. S. Agadzhanov, High Temp. **51**, 281 (2013).
- <sup>17</sup>A.-M. A. Magomedov and B. P. Pashaev, Sov. Phys. J. 15, 287 (1972).
- <sup>18</sup>A. N. Krestovnikov, V. G. Pavlov, and V. M. Glazov, Zavod. Lab. **34**, 191 (1968).
- <sup>19</sup>Y. I. Dutchak and P. V. Panasyuk, Sov. Phys. Solid State 8, 2244 (1967).
- <sup>20</sup>B. P. Pashaev, Sov. Phys. Solid State **3**, 303 (1961).
- <sup>21</sup>N. A. Nikolsky, N. A. Kalakutskaya, I. M. Pchelkin, T. V. Klassen, and V. A. Veltishcheva, Vopr. Teploobmena 11 (1959).
- <sup>22</sup>H. Nagai, M. Mamiya, M. Castillo, and T. Okutani, Jpn. J. Appl. Phys., Part 1 45, 6455 (2006).
- <sup>23</sup>A. I. Veinik, G. V. Markov, and E. B. Matulis, J. Eng. Phys. 57, 1407 (1989).
- <sup>24</sup>L. P. Filippov, Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer 16, 865 (1973).
- <sup>25</sup>R. W. Powell and R. P. Tye, "Experimental determinations of the thermal conductivities of molten metals," in *Proceedings of the Joint Conference on Thermodynamic and Transport Properties of Fluids* (Institution of Mechanical Engineers, London, 1958), pp. 182–187.
- <sup>26</sup>S. Konno, Philos. Mag. 40, 542 (1920).
- <sup>27</sup>H. Fukuyama, J.-I. Takano, and T. Tsukada, in 19th Symposium on Thermophysical Properties, 21–26 June (Boulder, CO, USA, 2015).
- <sup>28</sup>T. Nishi, H. Shibata, Y. Waseda, and H. Ohta, Metall. Mater. Trans. A 34, 2801 (2003).
- <sup>29</sup>V. Y. Zinovyev, V. F. Polev, S. G. Taluts, G. P. Zinovyeva, and S. A. Ilinykh, Phys. Met. Metallogr. **61**, 85 (1986).
- <sup>30</sup>O. I. Ostrovskii, V. A. Ermachenkov, V. M. Popov, V. A. Grigoryan, and L. B. Kogan, Russ. J. Phys. Chem. **54**, 739 (1980).
- <sup>31</sup>T. Nishi, H. Shibata, and H. Ohta, Mater. Trans. 44, 2369 (2003).
- <sup>32</sup>E. Yamasue, M. Susa, H. Fukuyama, and K. Nagata, J. Cryst. Growth 234, 121 (2002).
- <sup>33</sup>E. Takasuka, E. Tokizaki, K. Terashima, and S. Kimura, in *Proceedings of the Fourth Asian Thermophysical Properties Conference* (Tokyo, 1995), pp. 89–92.
- <sup>34</sup>R. E. Taylor, L. R. Holland, and R. K. Crouch, High Temp. High Pressures 17, 47 (1985).
- <sup>35</sup>R. K. Crouch, A. L. Fripp, and W. J. Debnam, "Thermophysical properties of germanium for thermal analysis of growth from the melt," in *Materials Processing in the Reduced Gravity Environment of Space*, edited by G. E. Rindone (Elsevier/North Holland, New York, 1982).
- <sup>36</sup>V. M. Glazov, A. A. Aaivazov, and V. G. Pavlov, Sov. Phys. Semicond. 5, 182 (1971).
- <sup>37</sup>H. Kobatake, H. Fukuyama, T. Tsukada, and S. Awaji, Meas. Sci. Technol. **21**, 025901 (2010).
- <sup>38</sup>J. B. Magomedov and G. G. Gadjiev, High Temp. **46**, 422 (2008).
- <sup>39</sup>K. Yamamoto, T. Abe, and S. Takasu, Jpn. J. Appl. Sci. **30**, 2423 (1991).
- <sup>40</sup>Y. Inatomi, F. Onishi, K. Nagashio, and K. Kuribayashi, Int. J. Thermophys. 28, 44 (2007).
- <sup>41</sup>H. Nagai, Y. Nakata, T. Tsurue, H. Minagawa, K. Kamada, S. Gustaffson, and T. Okutani, Jpn. J. Appl. Phys., Part 1 **39**, 1405 (2000).
- <sup>42</sup>Y. Baba, T. Inoue, K.-i. Sugioka, H. Kobatake, H. Fukuyama, M. Kubo, and T. Tsukada, <u>Meas. Sci. Technol.</u> 23, 045103 (2012).
- <sup>43</sup>H. Kobatake, H. Khosroabadi, and H. Fukuyama, in *Proceedings of the eTherm 15–17 December 2010* (Tsukuba, Japan, 2010), p. 122.
- <sup>44</sup>K. Sugie, H. Kobatake, M. Uchikoshi, M. Isshiki, K.-i. Sugioka, T. Tsukada, and H. Fukuyama, Jpn. J. Appl. Sci. **50**, 11RD04 (2011).
- <sup>45</sup>Y. Sato, T. Nishizuka, T. Tachikawa, M. Hoshi, T. Yamamura, and Y. Waseda, High Temp. High Pressures **32**, 253 (2000).
- <sup>46</sup>H. Kobatake, H. Fukuyama, I. Minato, T. Tsukada, and S. Awaji, Appl. Phys. Lett. **90**, 094102 (2007).
- <sup>47</sup>R. K. Endo, Y. Fujihara, and M. Susa, High Temp. High Pressures 35/36, 505 (2003).
- <sup>48</sup>D. R. Stull and G. C. Sinke, *Thermodynamic Properties of the Elements* (American Chemical Society, Washington, DC, USA, 1956).